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Q4 2016 Management’s Discussion & Analysis

ATACAMA PACIFIC GOLD CORPORATION 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2016 

This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) relates to the financial condition and results of 
Atacama Pacific Gold Corporation (“Atacama”) together with its wholly owned subsidiary, as of July 28,
2016, and should be read in conjunction with the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended March 31, 2016 (the “Q4 2016 Statements”). Readers are cautioned that the MD&A contains 
forward-looking statements and that actual events may vary from management's expectations. Readers are 
encouraged to read the Cautionary Statement on Forward-Looking Information included with this MD&A. 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and all dollar 
amounts are in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted. Atacama’s common shares trade on the TSX 
Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) under the symbol “ATM” and its most recent filings are available on the 
System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) and can be accessed through the 
Internet at www.sedar.com. 

With respect to the January 2013 Cerro Maricunga Gold Project Preliminary Economic Assessment 
(“PEA”), Carlos Guzmán, a mining engineer, Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy 
and a registered member of the Chilean Mining Commission, was the independent qualified person as 
defined by Section 1.5 of National Instrument 43-101 (“NI 43-101”).  Mr. Guzmán is a Principal and Project 
Director with NCL Ingeneiría y Construcción Ltda. (“NCL”), Santiago, Chile.  John Wells, a mining engineer 
with Alquimia Conceptos S.A. (“Alquimia”), Chile, was the independent qualified person who prepared the 
PEA information related to processing and site infrastructure.  Dr. Eduardo Magri, a mining engineer 
(University of Witwatersrand) and a Fellow of the Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, was
the independent qualified person for the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project resource estimate released 
September 25, 2012. NCL prepared and was responsible for the pit-constrained resource estimate, which 
formed the basis of the PEA, under the supervision of Dr. Eduardo Magri and Antonio Couble (NCL 
Associate).

With respect to the January 28, 2014 resource estimate, Dr. Eduardo Magri was the independent qualified 
person for the resource estimate but was not responsible for the conceptual pit shell.  Mr. Manuel Arre, a
registered member of the “Comisión Calificadora de Competencias en Recursos y Reservas Mineras” 
(Chilean Mining Commission, registry n° 0193), an accepted foreign association as defined by NI 43-101 
(Appendix A), and an independent qualified person as defined by NI 43-101, generated, reviewed and 
approved the conceptual pit shell used to confine the resource estimate.  The Cerro Maricunga Gold 
Project resource estimates have been prepared under Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and 
Petroleum (“CIM”) Definition Standards (2005).

With respect to the Pre-Feasibility Study completed on the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project (the “PFS”) and 
announced on August 20, 2014 by Atacama, Maria Leticia Conca Benito, Mining Engineer, Universidad de 
Chile, Registered Member of Chilean Mining Commission, CEO and Project Director, Alquimia, was the 
independent qualified person as defined by NI 43-101.  Ms. Benito was responsible for the compilation of 
the information and preparation of the overall PFS and was responsible for the information provided for the 
metallurgy and process plant design. Mr. Guzmán was responsible for the mining related sections of the 
PFS including the generation of the pit shell for constrained resources and the mineral reserve estimate. Dr. 
Eduardo Magri was responsible for the global mineral resource estimate. The Cerro Maricunga Gold 
Project resource estimate was prepared under CIM Standards on Mineral Resources and Reserves - 
Definitions and Guidelines (2014). 
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Michael Easdon, a professional geologist registered with the American Institute of Professional Geologists, 
was the independent qualified person for the Phase I through Phase IV exploration programs. The Qualified 
Person for the recent Phase V campaign is Sergio Diaz, a resident of Santiago, Chile and a registered 
member of the “Comisión Calificadora de Competencias en Recursos y Reservas Mineras” (Chilean Mining 
Commission, registry n° 051). 

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Atacama’s business is the acquisition, exploration and development of precious metals resource properties 
in Chile. Operating through its subsidiary, Minera Atacama Pacific Gold Chile Limitada (“Atacama Chile”), 
Atacama’s principal mineral property is the Cerro Maricunga oxide gold project (“Cerro Maricunga Gold 
Project”), located in Region III, 140 kilometres (“km”) by road northeast of the city of Copiapo. Atacama’s 
goal is to become a gold producer through the exploration and development of the Cerro Maricunga Gold 
Project and announced a PFS on the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project on August 20, 2014 (see section 3.1 –
Cerro Maricunga Gold Project – Pre-Feasibility Study). Atacama also has four other mineral properties 
within close proximity to the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project and one further north in Chile. 

Since its incorporation, mineral exploration has been Atacama’s sole business. Atacama has not conducted 
any revenue generating operations to date. As at March 31, 2016 Atacama had a working capital deficit of
$0.4 million (including cash and cash equivalents of $0.9 million), value-added-tax (“VAT”) receivables and 
exploration and evaluation assets of $98.1 million and no long-term debt. 

2. SUMMARY OF MINERAL PROPERTIES

Atacama has acquired various mineral properties located within Chile’s primary mining areas, as 
summarized below: 

Mineral Properties
Primary 
Target Location Owned

Cerro Maricunga Gold Project Gold Region III Owned 100%
Anocarire Project Gold Region I Owned 100%
Piedra Parada Project Gold Region III Owned 100%
Roca Prospect Gold Region III Owned 100%
Pircas Project Gold Region III Optioned
Toro Prospect Gold Region III Owned 100%

The Pircas Project was optioned to Gold Fields Ltd. (“Gold Fields”) and is now subject to a net 1.25% 
net smelter royalty on any minerals produced from the property payable to Atacama Chile. The Toro 
Prospect is subject to a 0.6% net smelter royalty payable on any minerals produced from the property. 

3. MINERAL PROPERTY ACTIVITIES

3.1 Cerro Maricunga Gold Project

The Cerro Maricunga Gold Project is the focus of Atacama’s activities and is located approximately 700 km 
north of Santiago, the capital of Chile, and approximately 140 km by road northeast of the city of Copiapo. 
This oxide-associated, breccia-hosted gold project is located in Region III of northern Chile in the Province 
of Copiapo. The Cerro Maricunga Gold Project concessions comprise generally contiguous or superposed 
exploration and mining concessions and cover over 15,000 hectares.  

The Cerro Maricunga deposit comprises three contiguous zones of gold mineralization occurring over a 2.3 
km strike length: the northern Lynx Zone, central Phoenix Zone and southern Crux Zone.  The gold 
mineralization is located within the partially eroded Ojos de Maricunga stratovolcano and hosted in intrusive 
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subvolcanic rock and genetically related breccia emplaced along a main northwest striking structure. Gold 
is found in black/grey banded quartz veinlets associated with disseminated magnetite and disseminated 
finely throughout the host rock. The mineralization is oxide associated and sulphide mineralization is rare.

Phase I, Phase II and Phase III Exploration

Atacama drilled a total of 2,142 metres (“m”) in eight angled drill holes at the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project 
during the 2010 Phase I program which confirmed that the mineralization at the Cerro Maricunga Gold 
Project is generally moderately to steeply dipping and that it is contained within a northwesterly trending 
structural zone.  

Atacama completed 31,821 m of combined diamond and reverse circulation (“RC”) drilling during the Phase 
II program. On August 24, 2011, Atacama reported an initial resource estimate from the Cerro Maricunga 
Gold Project of 92.8 million tonnes grading 0.54 grams per tonne gold (“g/t Au”) for 1.616 million ounces of 
gold (“oz Au”) in the indicated resource category, at a 0.3 g/t Au cut-off, and a further 116.7 million tonnes 
grading 0.52 g/t Au giving 1.949 million oz Au in the inferred category. A NI 43-101 compliant technical 
report describing these results was filed on SEDAR on October 7, 2011.

During the Phase II program, column and bottle roll tests were completed on mineralized material from the 
Cerro Maricunga deposit. These column tests achieved gold recoveries varying from 76% to 89% on 
material crushed from 19 millimetre (“mm”) to 25 mm. Gold leach kinetics were fast with 75 to 90% of the 
extractable gold recovered during the first seven days of column leaching. Early indications were that the 
NaCN consumption in the production heaps would be low (0.25–0.35 kg/t). No significant concentrations of
cyanide consuming elements (Cu, S, etc.) or deleterious elements such as Hg were identified.  Lime 
consumption in the tests ranged from 2.3 to 4.1 kg/t. 

The 2011/2012 Phase III campaign included fieldwork and engineering studies. A total of 45,976 m of 
combined diamond and RC drilling was completed with the objective of expanding and upgrading the 
existing resources as well as testing new targets within the volcanic complex identified during the Phase II 
program. 

On September 25, 2012, Atacama reported that the global unconstrained measured and indicated (“M&I”)
resources at its Cerro Maricunga Gold Project had increased 65% to 2.667 million oz Au in 163.9 million 
tonnes grading 0.51 g/t Au, at a 0.3 g/t Au cut-off, with a further 1.810 million oz Au in 120.7 million tonnes 
grading 0.47 g/t Au in the inferred category and confirmed that the entire resource at the Cerro Maricunga 
deposit is oxide associated. The related NI 43-101 compliant technical report was filed on SEDAR on 
November 12, 2012.  

During the Phase III program, Atacama reported that column percolation leach tests from the Cerro 
Maricunga Gold Project achieved gold recoveries ranging from 77 to 86%. Column tests were completed on 
four master composite samples comprised of average to low-grade oxide‐associated gold mineralization. 
The mineralized test material was crushed to 19, 50 or 100 mm to determine the impact of crush size on 
gold recoveries.  The 50 mm and 100 mm crushed column tests achieved gold recoveries of 78 and 77% 
respectively compared to gold recoveries of 78 to 86% from mineralization crushed to 19 mm. In addition to 
the positive results from the representative resource grade tests, higher than anticipated gold recoveries of 
78 to 82% were achieved from the lower grade columns. These metallurgical results allowed Atacama to 
consider the economic potential of the halo of lower grade gold mineralization surrounding the Cerro 
Maricunga resource (which was estimated at a 0.3 g/t Au cut‐off). Ball mill grindability tests undertaken on 
three composite samples returned low to medium hardness results. 

Preliminary Economic Assessment 

In December 2011 Atacama engaged NCL of Santiago, Chile, as the lead contractor to prepare a PEA on 
the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project, in accordance with NI 43-101, to determine the optimum mining and 
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processing parameters and establishing, within limits, the associated capital expenditures and operating 
costs. 

On January 28, 2013, Atacama announced the results from the PEA. The highlights included the following: 

 Potential for average annual gold production, over the first 5 years, of 298,000 oz Au
 Projected total gold production of 2.7 million oz Au over a 10-year mine life
 Life of mine (“LOM”) estimated operating cash costs of US$652 per ounce gold ("/oz Au")
 Initial capital cost estimate of US$514.6 million with sustaining capital of US$249.0 million

Cerro Maricunga Gold Project Pit–Constrained Resource Estimate (2013) 

Constrained at US$1,400/oz Au Tonnes Grade Oz Au
(millions) (g/t Au) (000’s)

Measured 48.6 0.43 668
Indicated 137.1 0.41 1,791

M&I 185.8 0.41 2,460
Inferred 75.4 0.39 938

The PEA calculated a base case pre-tax net present value at a 5% discount rate ("NPV5%") of US$741
million, a pre-tax internal rate of return ("IRR") of 33.9% and an average pre-tax cash flow from operations 
of US$189 million per year. The base case was calculated at a gold price of US$1,450. The three-year 
historical gold price, as of January 1, 2013, was approximately US$1,490/oz Au.  

The NI 43-101 compliant PEA technical report was filed on SEDAR on March 15, 2013 and should be 
consulted for detailed information on operating and financial projections. This PEA was preliminary in 
nature and included inferred mineral resources that are considered too speculative geologically to have the 
economic considerations applied to them that would enable them to be categorized as mineral reserves. 
There is no certainty that the PEA results will be realized and the PEA was not a preliminary feasibility 
study or feasibility study. The PEA was completed to a level of accuracy of +35% to -10%.

Phase IV Program 

The 2012/2103 Phase IV campaign provided for fieldwork and including engineering studies. The majority 
of the drill program was dedicated to upgrading the confidence level of the inferred resources. Exploration 
targets were also tested. 

The drilling component of the Phase IV program included infill resource drilling and condemnation holes in 
the proposed leach pad and plant areas, a sixth water monitoring well as well as exploration targets outside 
the main deposit area.  A total of 27,607 m of combined diamond and RC drilling was completed during the 
Phase IV campaign. Since 2010, over 105,000 m of drilling have been completed on the Cerro Maricunga 
Gold Project. Overall, the results of the Phase IV program confirmed the interpretation of the resource 
model.

During the Phase IV program Atacama reported that column percolation leach tests from the Cerro 
Maricunga Gold Project continued to achieve consistent positive gold recoveries. The test work was 
completed on gold mineralization taken from across the Cerro Maricunga deposit with the goal of 
determining the impact of gold grade, agglomeration and crush size (25, 50 and 150 mm) on gold 
recoveries. Highlights from this test work included: 

6



Q4 2016 Management’s Discussion & Analysis

 Average gold recoveries of 81.5% for non-agglomerated, 25 mm crushed mineralization
 Majority of leachable gold extracted in the first twenty days at a 25 mm crush
 Gold recoveries of 78% and 80% at a 50 mm crush
 No significant variation in gold recoveries between the three main zones
 No significant difference in recoveries between average grade and low grade mineralization

Phase V Program 

On January 28, 2014, Atacama reported an updated pit constrained oxide-associated resource estimate for 
its Cerro Maricunga gold deposit. Undiluted M&I resources increased by 1.01 million oz Au to 3.470 million 
oz Au in 248.8 million tonnes grading 0.43 g/t Au with a further 43,000 oz Au in 3.1 million tonnes grading 
0.43 g/t Au in the inferred category.  The gain in M&I resources was largely due to the conversion of 
inferred resources to the M&I category as a result of the Phase IV infill drilling program. The resource 
estimate was confined within a Whittle pit shell modeled at a gold price of US$1,200/oz Au..

Cerro Maricunga Gold Project Pit–Constrained Resource Estimate (1) (2014)

Measured Indicated M&I Inferred

Zone Tonnes Grade Tonnes Grade Tonnes Grade Oz Au Tonnes Grade Oz Au
(millions) (g/t Au) (millions) (g/t Au) (millions) (g/t Au) (000’s) (millions) (g/t Au) (000’s)

Lynx 16.9 0.48 43.1 0.46 60.0 0.46 893 1.7 0.48 27

Crux 36.1 0.47 59.9 0.44 96.0 0.45 1,398 0.9 0.35 10

Phoenix 54.4 0.40 37.4 0.40 91.7 0.40 1,171 0.3 0.52 5

Other 0.9 0.23 0.3 0.23 1.1 0.23 8 0.1 0.20 1

Total (2) 108.2 0.43 140.6 0.43 248.8 0.43 3,470 3.1 0.43 43
(1) Resource estimated at a 0.18 g/t cut-off grade. 
(2) Apparent summation errors are due to rounding.

A small portion of the M&I resource (8,000 oz Au in 1.1 million tonnes grading 0.23 g/t Au) lies outside the 
confines of the three zones but within the pit boundaries and is classified as other.  While the strike extent 
of the three main zones has been defined by drilling, the full potential of the Cerro Maricunga volcanic 
complex has not been completely tested.  The oxide-associated gold mineralization has been drilled to 
depths in excess of 600 m and remains open to depth. 

During the Phase V program, Atacama reported that gold recoveries of 76% were achieved from a column 
percolation leach tests undertaken on non-agglomerated 150 mm (5 1/2 inch) crushed gold mineralization 
from the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project.  A second column test undertaken on similar mineralization but 
agglomerated using cement achieved a gold recovery of 68% confirming that agglomeration negatively 
impacts gold recoveries and therefore will not be considered in a production scenario. Atacama also 
reported the results from column percolation leach tests. The tests were undertaken to compare the gold 
recoveries from mineralization crushed to different sizes and to examine the impact of crushing using high 
pressure grind rolls (“HPGR”) on recoveries. The test work also examined the impact of reducing the 
amount of lime used to control leach solution pH. Highlights from the current test work include:  

 Only a minor decrease in gold recoveries was observed when increasing crush size to 105 mm;
 HPGR crushed mineralization did not achieved significantly higher gold recoveries compared to

conventionally crushed materials; and
 Majority of leachable gold was extracted in the first twenty days at crush sizes less than 21 mm.
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Pre-Feasibility Study 

On August 20, 2014, Atacama announced that the PFS completed on the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project 
had demonstrated the technical and economic viability of an 80,000 tonne per day heap leach operation. 
Highlights from the PFS included: 

 2.96 million recoverable oz Au over a 13 year mine life
 Average annual production over the first 8 years of 281,000 oz Au
 Average LOM gold production of 228,000 oz Au
 Average LOM cash costs of US$683/oz Au
 Initial capital costs, including contingencies, of US$398.9 million
 Sustaining costs, including contingencies, of US$187.6 million
 Strong total operating cash flows of US$1.27 billion at US$1,350/oz Au

Pre-Feasibility Study Parameters 

The PFS was completed using the following guiding parameters: 

 LOM 13 years 
 LOM recoverable oz Au 2.96 million oz Au 
 Average annual production 1st eight years 281,000 oz Au 
 Average annual LOM production 228,000 oz Au 
 Average LOM strip ratio 1.76 : 1 (waste to ore) 
 Designed processing capacity 29.2 million tonnes per annum 
 Mining cut-off grade 0.15 g/t Au 
 Metallurgical recovery 79.2%
 Average mining cost US$1.40 per tonne mined 
 Processing costs US$2.52 per tonne processed 
 General and administration US$0.54 per tonne processed 
 Gold price US$1,350/oz Au 

Projected total gold production over the 13-year LOM was 2.96 million oz Au at an average operating cash 
cost of US$683/oz Au.  All-in sustaining cost of US$941/oz Au, including total cash costs of US$864/oz Au, 
were projected. The PFS calculated an after-tax NPV5%” of US$409.3 million and after-tax IRR of 25.0%.

Santiago-based consultancies, Alquimia and NCL prepared the PFS in accordance with NI 43-101 
“Standards of Disclosure for Minerals Projects”. The PFS had an effective date of August 20, 2014 and was 
filed on SEDAR on October 6, 2014. It should be consulted for detailed information on operating and 
financial projections. This PFS was preliminary in nature and there is no certainty that the PFS results will 
be realized. The PFS was not a feasibility study. The PFS was completed to a level of accuracy of +20% to 
-5%.

Mineral Resources and Reserves 

The current Cerro Maricunga global resource estimate is presented in the table below. The global resource 
estimate was used for the estimation of the pit constrained oxide-associated gold resource reported in 
Atacama’s January 28, 2014 press release and was used to establish the mineral reserves used in the 
PFS. 

The Cerro Maricunga proven and probable mineral reserve estimate, summarized below, lies within an 
optimized open pit shell generated using economic and technical input parameters established in the PFS. 
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The mineral reserve represents a diluted ore tonnage.  No inferred category mineral resources were used 
in the preparation of the mineral reserves. 

The Cerro Maricunga resource estimate and reserve calculation were prepared under guidelines 
established by the CIM, CIM Standards on Mineral Resources and Reserves - Definitions and Guidelines 
(2014).  

Global Resource Estimate

Measured Indicated M&I Inferred

Zone Tonnes Grade Tonnes Grade Tonnes Grade Oz Au Tonnes Grade Oz Au

(millions) (g/t Au) (millions) (g/t Au) (millions) (g/t Au) (000’s) (millions) (g/t Au) (000’s)
Lynx 20.1 0.46 82.8 0.40 102.9 0.41 1,344 7.0 0.37 84
Crux 92.0 0.35 119.1 0.32 211.1 0.33 2,227 28.1 0.30 266
Phoenix 40.7 0.46 79.1 0.42 119.8 0.44 1,678 22.8 0.34 253

Totals 152.8 0.39 281.0 0.37 433.8 0.38 5,249 57.9 0.32 603
(1) Mineral resources are reported as global unconstrained resources at a 0.15 g/t Au cut-off grade. 
(2) Mineral resources are not confined within a pit using mining parameters. 
(3) Rounding may result in apparent summation differences between tonnes, grade and contained oz Au. 
(4) Tonnage and grade measurements are in metric units.  Contained oz Au are reported as troy ounces. 

Mineral Reserve Estimate

0.15 g/t Au Cut-off Grade
Tonnes Grade Oz Au

(millions) (g/t Au) (000’s)
Proven 126.9 0.39 1,603
Probable 167.6 0.40 2,140

Total Proven and Probable 294.4 0.40 3,743
(1) Mineral reserves are reported as constrained within M&I pit design and supported by a mine plan featuring a 

constant throughput rate.  The pit design and mine plan were optimized using the following economic and 
technical parameters: gold price of US$1300/oz Au; recovery to dore assumptions 79.5% for gold; 
US$10.00/oz of Au refining charges; ore and waste average mining cost of US$1.45/t, and process and G&A
costs of US$3.09/t processed; average pit slope angles that range from 40° to 48°; an assumption of 100% 
mining recovery and 3% of mining dilution. 

(2) Mineral reserves are contained within the existing mineral resources.   
(3) Rounding may result in apparent summation differences between tonnes, grade and contained oz Au. 
(4) Tonnage and grade measurements are in metric units.  Contained oz Au are reported as troy ounces. 

With a processing rate of approximately 80,000 tonnes per day and estimated average annual production of 
over 225,000 oz Au over the first 5 years, the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project is one of the largest oxide gold 
projects under consideration for development. The high processing rate and positive metallurgical 
characteristics combined with a low strip ratio, cost effective open pit mining and heap leach processing 
methods established the potential for an economically strong project with quick payback on capital 
expenditures for a project of this scale. 

Atacama Pacific is currently reviewing the development options for its Cerro Maricunga oxide gold deposit 
with the goal of reducing capital costs.  Options under consideration include the application of single stage 
crushing and valley fill leaching adjacent to the deposit. The PFS envisioned a three stage crushing circuit 
and conveyors to transport ore from the deposit to a heap leach pad located 12 km from the deposit.  
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3.2 Water Update 

In July 2013, Atacama entered into an agreement for the purchase of 2.5 million cubic metres (“m3”) of
water annually, representing a flow rate of 80 litres per second (“l/s”), from Aguas Chañar S.A. (“Aguas 
Chañar”), a Copiapo-based Chilean water utility. Under the agreement, Aguas Chañar will supply 2.5 
million m3 of water to Atacama over a period of 13 years at a rate of US$0.75/m3 commencing upon the
start of production at the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project. The supply agreement is renewable for successive 
5-year periods at the end of the 13-year term. Under the original agreement, Atacama agreed to make pre-
production annual water payments to Aguas Chañar of US$567,648. In exchange for an immediate 
payment of US$280,557, Aguas Chañar agreed to: (i) reduce these pre-production payments to 
US$113,530 per year for 2016 through 2019; and (ii) accept a deferred pre-production payment of 
US$359,510 per year for 2016 and 2019. The deferred pre-production payment is due on the start of 
production in 2020 in three biannual installments. 

It is anticipated that the use of industrial water will simplify the permitting process for the project as the 
water is not being extracted directly from the environment. A pipeline from Copiapo would be of similar 
distance to the other pipelines considered for the development of the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project but has 
the benefit that it would likely be constructed along the road from Copiapo to Argentina which passes within 
20 km of the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project.

The 80 l/s of water available under the supply agreement would support production levels of 65,000 tonnes 
per day. Aguas Chañar has stated that increases in the volume of water available for sale are anticipated 
due to planned and proposed plant expansions at Copiapo. Atacama has the right of first refusal to acquire 
any volume increases available.

With a secure and sustainable source of water arranged for the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project, Atacama 
took the opportunity to monetize its rights in other water assets. 

 In 2012, Atacama entered into an agreement (the "AMX Option") with AMX de Chile S.A. and
related subsidiary companies (“AMX”) to explore for and acquire water use rights on a series of
contiguous water exploration concessions located approximately 95 km north of Atacama’s Cerro
Maricunga Gold Project. Albrecht Schneider, Atacama’s Executive Chairman, owns a non-controlling
stake in AMX through a company controlled by him. On November 19, 2013, Atacama entered into
an agreement to sell the AMX Option to a Chilean subsidiary of Gold Fields. Under the terms of the
agreement Gold Fields paid Atacama a total of US$1.2 million on December 31, 2014. If Gold Fields
receives approval from the Chilean water authority, Dirección General de Aguas (“DGA”), for all or a
portion of the 42 l/s of water discovered within the concessions to date, Atacama will receive a
payment of US$62,000 per l/s approved.

 On February 26, 2014 Atacama entered in an amended water exploration joint venture agreement
with a subsidiary of Exeter Resources Inc. (“Exeter”) and Hydro Exploraciones SpA (“Hydro”) under
which Exeter and Atacama would jointly explore and develop certain Hydro water exploration
concessions. Albrecht Schneider, Atacama’s Executive Chairman, owns a controlling interest in
Hydro. Under this agreement payments for the water extraction rights covered by the water
exploration joint venture were capped at US$1.0 million and Atacama’s interest in the water
exploration joint venture was reduced to 10%. On May 15, 2014, Atacama issued Hydro 350,000
common shares at an agreed amount of $402,500 to settle current liabilities under the Hydro option
agreement and water exploration joint venture agreement. Atacama continues to be responsible for
10% of the expenditures under the water exploration joint venture agreement with Exeter and will
retain a 10% interest in any water extraction rights granted by the DGA.
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3.3 Other Mineral Properties  

Previous work and proposed exploration programs for these properties were summarized in Atacama’s 
MD&A for the years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015.  

4. MINERAL PROPERTY EXPENDITURES

Atacama’s expenditures on mineral properties for the year ended March 31, 2016 were as follows (in 
millions): 

Mineral Property

Balance
March 31,

2015

Exploration 
and 

evaluation 
costs

Effect of 
foreign 

exchange

Balance 
March 31, 

2016
Cerro Maricunga Gold Project $83.7 $1.0 $1.8 $86.5
Anocarire Project 1.3 - - 1.3
Piedra Parada Project 0.7 - - 0.7
Pircas Project 0.1 - - 0.1
Toro Prospect 0.1 - - 0.1

$86.0 $1.0 $1.8 $88.9
(1) Amounts have been rounded to the mineral property schedule included in Note 5 to the 

accompanying Q4 2016 Statements; therefore numbers may not total or cross add. 

During the year ended March 31, 2016, Atacama incurred $1.0 million in capitalized exploration 
expenditures primarily on its flagship Cerro Maricunga Gold Project, and recorded a foreign exchange 
translation adjustment to the carrying amount of $1.8 million that was included in other comprehensive 
income. The foreign exchange translation adjustment results from the fact that the functional currency of 
Atacama’s subsidiary is United States dollars and Atacama’s presentation currency is in Canadian dollars.

The $1.0 million in expenditures on the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project for the year ended March 31, 2016 
include geological staff in Atacama’s Santiago office and other land holding costs. 

5. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following selected data for the past eight quarters has been prepared in accordance with IFRS and 
should be read in conjunction with Atacama’s unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial 
statements and annual audited consolidated financial statements: 
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Quarter 
Ended

Mar. 31, 2016

Quarter 
Ended

Dec. 31, 2015

Quarter 
Ended

Sep. 30, 2015

Quarter 
Ended

Jun. 30,
2015

Operations
Interest and other income
(loss) $(4,541) $(8,154) $(3,032) $ -
Expenses (172,700) (173,583) (182,182) (171,899)
Stock-based compensation (424,163) (218,588) - -
Foreign exchange gain (loss) (5,453,469) 3,682,714 5,217,714 (1,530,673)
Income (loss) before 
income taxes (6,054,873) 3,282,389 5,032,500 (1,702,572)
Deferred tax expense (5,553,072) - - -
Income (loss) $(11,607,945) $3,282,389 $5,032,500 $(1,702,572)
Income (loss) per share –

Basic and fully diluted(1) $(0.18) $0.05 $0.08 $(0.03)
Foreign exchange 

translation differences 128,814 (42,686) (131,310) 17,866
Total comprehensive 

income (loss) $(11,479,131) $3,239,703 $4,901,190 $(1,684,706)
Total Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents $906,387 $510,250 $799,518 $1,120,800
Other current assets 148,265 79,344 48,345 53,076
Due from related parties 695,120 - - -
Equipment 3,570 4,251 4,935 6,399
Exploration and evaluation 

assets and VAT 
receivable 98,142,752 103,147,873 99,242,833 94,009,684

$99,896,094 $103,741,718 $100,095,631 $95,189,959
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Quarter 
Ended

Mar. 31, 
2015

Quarter 
Ended

Dec. 31, 
2014

Quarter 
Ended

Sep. 30, 
2014

Quarter 
Ended

Jun. 30, 
2014

Operations
Interest income $157,608 $ - $4,821 $814
Expenses (277,895) (288,488) (268,930) (347,666)
Stock-based compensation - - - -
Foreign exchange gain (loss) 7,151,636 2,926,171 2,911,366 (2,575,856)
Income (loss) $7,031,349 $2,637,683 $2,647,257 $(2,922,708)
Income (loss) per share –

Basic and fully diluted(1) $0.12 $0.05 $0.05 $(0.05)
Foreign exchange translation 

differences (89,964) (12,828) (32,131) 8,124
Total comprehensive income 

(loss) $6,941,385 $2,624,855 $2,615,126 $(2,914,584)
Total Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $64,594 $465,840 $148,504 $1,899,470
Other current assets 107,598 80,902 661,363 595,319
Equipment 7,864 9,329 10,794 12,259
Exploration and evaluation 

assets and VAT receivable 95,305,365 87,325,639 83,745,063 79,811,187
$95,485,421 $87,881,710 $84,565,724 $82,318,235

(1) Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding, used in the calculation of diluted net loss per 
share in each of the periods presented, are not reflective of the outstanding stock options and warrants 
at that time as their exercise would be anti-dilutive in the net loss per share calculation. 

The major variances in cash and total assets are mainly attributable to equity placements and the funding 
of Atacama’s exploration and evaluation activities on its mineral properties as well as administrative 
expenses. During the year ended March 31, 2016, Atacama completed a non-brokered private placement 
for net proceeds of $1.8 million and had warrants exercised for proceeds of $0.8 million. Subsequent to 
March 31, 2016 Atacama completed a private placement and had warrants exercised for net proceeds of 
$0.5 million. As Atacama is in the exploration stage, Atacama does not generate operating revenue. 

The increase in exploration and evaluation assets and VAT receivable is primarily a result of Atacama’s
exploration of the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project and the effect of foreign exchange on the translation of 
these costs from the functional currency of United States dollars to Canadian dollars.  

Foreign exchange losses and gains are primarily a result of the fluctuations in the United States dollar 
against the Canadian dollar. Any strengthening (or weakening) of the United States dollar against the 
Canadian dollar results in foreign exchange gains (or losses) on Atacama’s United States dollar 
denominated cash and cash equivalent balances and US dollar intercompany loans with its subsidiary. The 
effect of the translation of exploration and evaluation assets from the functional currency to the reporting 
currency (United States dollars to Canadian dollars) is recorded in other comprehensive income. 

Variances in stock-based compensation expense are the result of the timing of the grant of vested stock 
options and their fair valuation using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 
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6. RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Operations

Three months Ended
March 31,

Year Ended
March 31,

2016 2015 2016 2015

Expenses
Salaries, benefits and Director fees $100,455 $186,040 $388,950 $759,945
Legal, audit 31,371 12,416 117,196 141,566
Office and administrative 17,273 41,266 70,270 121,858
Consulting fees 7,056 23,393 49,727 73,002
Regulatory and shareholder information 8,183 7,409 40,364 58,007
Travel 7,897 5,190 26,944 19,726
General exploration expenditures (216) 716 2,619 3,015
Stock-based compensation 424,163 1,465 642,751 5,860
Amortization 681 - 4,294 -

596,863 277,895 1,343,115 1,182,979
Other income (loss)
Foreign exchange gain (5,453,469) 7,155,251 1,916,286 10,413,317
Interest income 136 108 192 5,743
Financing agreement (4,677) 157,500 (15,919) 157,500

(5,458,010) 7,312,859 1,900,559 10,576,560
Income (loss) before income taxes (6,054,873) 7,034,964 557,444 9,393,581
Deferred tax expense (5,553,072) - (5,553,072) -
Income (loss) $(11,607,945) $7,034,964 (4,995,628) $9,393,581
Per share – basic and diluted (1) $(0.18) $0.12 $(0.08) $0.17
(1) Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding, used in the calculation of diluted loss per 

share, are not reflective of the outstanding stock options and warrants at that time as their exercise 
would be anti-dilutive in the loss per share calculation. 

6.1 Three months ended March 31, 2016 

Atacama’s results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2016 resulted in a loss of $11.6 
million, compared to income of $7.0 million for the same period in prior year. Atacama’s corporate activities 
for the three months ended March 31, 2016 were similar to the prior period and, as a result, most costs 
were comparable, with the exception of salaries, benefits and Director fees that reflect a 50% reduction in 
salary levels for all staff and elimination of Director fees. Office and administrative and legal and audit 
expenses were also curtailed during the period compared to the prior year. Non-operating items were 
primarily responsible for variances from the same period in prior year. Stock based compensation expense 
reflects the granting of stock options in the three months ended March 31, 2016; no options were granted in 
the previous fiscal period. Foreign exchange gains or losses are primarily a result of the fluctuations in the 
United States dollar against the Canadian dollar. Any strengthening (or weakening) of the United States 
dollar against the Canadian dollar results in foreign exchange gains (or losses) on Atacama’s United States 
dollar denominated cash and cash equivalent balances and US dollar intercompany loan to Atacama Chile.
The foreign exchange loss resulted from the weakening of the United States dollar during the three months 
ended March 31, 2016 and as a result, Atacama’s United States dollar denominated items decreased in 
value. In addition, the Company recorded a non-cash deferred tax expense in the period primarily related to 
the effect of foreign exchange. 

In the second quarter of fiscal 2016, Atacama entered into an agreement with Minera Los Vilos S.A. (“Los 
Vilos”) to provide access to operate the El Durazno copper mine. The El Durazno operation comprises a 
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small tonnage underground mine with an associated 200 to 250 tonne per day milling facility located near 
Caimanes, Region IV, Chile. Los Vilos is a company controlled by Atacama’ Executive Chairman, Albrecht 
Schneider. The agreement was for a period of two years. The royalty payable to Los Vilos was 97.75% of 
gross profit from the El Durazno copper mine, plus 15% of the VAT recovered by Atacama in operating the 
mine. Atacama was responsible for on-going maintenance expenditures required for normal operations 
while Los Vilos maintained responsibility for any capital expenditures that are required to expand and 
extend operations beyond the current arrangement. The operational details from the Los Vilos agreement 
are described in note 8 of the Q4 2016 Statements. 

Subsequent to year end, Atacama’s subsidiary Atacama Chile was served an environmental notice from the 
Chilean environmental authority (Sernageomin) over the operations at Los Vilos. The environmental notice 
includes immaterial fines for damages against Atacama Chile and has forced the closure of the operations 
at Los Vilos. As a result, Atacama Chile decided to terminate the Los Vilos agreement on June 21, 2016. 
Los Vilos has acknowledged the termination of the agreements and that it will bear all the legal costs, fines 
and other expenses related to the defense process. However, since the notice was served in the name of 
Atacama Chile, Los Vilos has requested that Atacama formally continue the defense of the case against the 
Sernageomin. On July 25, 2016 the Sernageomin accepted Atacama Chile’s appeal and lifted the closure 
notice, without issuing any fines or penalties. See Section 12.5 Subsequent Events.   

6.2 Year ended March 31, 2016 

Atacama’s results of operations for the year ended March 31, 2016 resulted in a loss of $5.0 million, 
compared to income of $9.4 million for the same period in prior year. Atacama’s corporate activities for the 
year ended March 31, 2016 were similar to the prior period and, as a result, most costs were comparable, 
with the exception of salaries, benefits and Director fees that reflect a 50% reduction in salary levels for all 
staff and elimination of Director fees. Office and administrative and legal and audit expenses were also 
curtailed during the period compared to the prior year. Non-operating items were primarily responsible for 
variances from the same period in prior year. Stock based compensation expense reflects the granting of 
4,385,500 stock options in the year ended March 31, 2016; no options were granted in the previous fiscal 
year. Foreign exchange gains or losses are primarily a result of the fluctuations in the United States dollar 
against the Canadian dollar. Any strengthening (or weakening) of the United States dollar against the
Canadian dollar results in foreign exchange gains (or losses) on Atacama’s United States dollar 
denominated cash and cash equivalent balances and US dollar intercompany loan to Atacama Chile. The 
foreign exchange loss resulted from the weakening of the United States dollar during the year ended March 
31, 2016 and as a result, Atacama’s United States dollar denominated items decreased in value. In 
addition, the Company recorded a non-cash deferred tax expense in the period primarily related to the 
effect of foreign exchange. 

As described in Section 6.1 the operational details from the Los Vilos agreement for the seven months 
since the effective date of the agreement are described in note 8 of the Q4 2016 Statements. 

7. LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Atacama is wholly dependent on equity financing to complete the development of its mineral properties. 
Atacama has not generated any revenue from operations and does not expect to generate any such 
revenue in its current or next fiscal year. 

Atacama had a working capital deficit at March 31, 2016 of $1.1 million compared to a working capital 
deficit of $1.5 million at March 31, 2015. The working capital was supplement by a June 2015 non-brokered 
private placement of units (the “June 2015 Units”) at an issue price of $0.20 per June 2015 Unit. Atacama 
issued 8,890,000 June 2015 Units for gross cash proceeds of $1.8 million. Each June 2015 Unit is 
comprised of one common share and one-half common share purchase warrant (a “June 2015 Warrant”). 
Each full June 2015 Warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for one additional common share at an 
exercise price of $0.25 at any time prior to 36 months from the date of issuance.
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As of March 31, 2016, Atacama had approximately $0.9 million in cash and cash equivalents. 

Atacama is dependent upon raising additional funds in order to fund future exploration and development 
programs and continue operations. While there is no assurance these funds can be raised, Atacama 
believes such financing will be available as required and has prepared its Q4 2016 Statements on a basis 
applicable to a going concern. Certain of Atacama's discretionary exploration activities have considerable 
scope for flexibility in terms of the amount and timing of exploration expenditure, and expenditures may be 
adjusted accordingly. 

Atacama had no off balance sheet arrangements as at March 31, 2016. 

8. OUTLOOK

Atacama is in the exploration stage and is subject to risks and challenges similar to companies in a 
comparable stage. These risks include, but are not limited to, the challenges of securing adequate capital in 
view of exploration, development and operational risks inherent in the mining industry as well as global 
economic and gold price volatility. There is no assurance that Atacama’s funding initiatives will continue to 
be successful to fund its planned exploration activities, which are focused on the Cerro Maricunga Gold 
Project. 

9. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNT POLICIES

The Q4 2016 Statements were prepared in accordance with IFRS, as issued by the IASB, and 
interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). Atacama’s 
previously published unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements were prepared in 
accordance with International Accounting Standard 34, Interim Financial Reporting (“IAS 34”) as issued by 
the IASB.  

9.1 Changes in Accounting Policies 

As described in note 3(a) of the Q4 2016 Statements Atacama has not adopted any material new or revised 
standards during the year ended March 31, 2016.  

10. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Atacama’s significant accounting policies are summarized in note 3 to the annual audited consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2016. Atacama is in the exploration stage and is subject 
to risks and challenges similar to companies in a comparable stage. The policies and estimates related to 
them, which have the most critical effect in preparation and presentation of the Q4 2016 Statements;
include: 

 Exploration and Evaluation Assets – including both the amounts capitalized and the assessment of
the capitalized costs for impairment.

 Contingencies.
 Share-Based Payment Transactions.
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11. OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA

Number of 
Shares

Common shares outstanding – March 31, 2016 68,587,410
May 2, 2016 private placement as described in Section 12.5 Subsequent 
Events 1,500,000
Exercise of June 2015 Warrants as described in Section 12.5 Subsequent 
Events 300,000
Exercise of broker warrants as described in Section 12.5 Subsequent 
Events 94,500

70,481,910
Unexercised warrants 5,568,750

Unexercised stock options 6,800,000
Total common shares outstanding, assuming exercise of all warrants, 
and stock options – March 31, 2016 and July 28, 2016 82,850,660

11.1 Common Shares

As described in note 6(a) in the Q4 2016 Statements, Atacama has an authorized share capital consisting 
of an unlimited number of common shares with no par value. The only shares issued during the year ended 
March 31, 2016 relate to the private placement financing of 8,890,000 June 2015 Units as described in 
Section 7.

11.2 Warrants 

As described in note 6(b) in Q4 2016 Statements, during the year ended March 31, 2016 4,445,000 June 
2015 and 94,500 broker warrants were issued.

11.3 Stock Options 

As described in note 6(c) in Q4 2016 Statements, Atacama has a TSXV compliant stock option plan under 
which stock options may be granted to Atacama’s Directors, senior officers, employees, consultants and 
consultant companies that provides the maximum number of common shares reserved for issuance 
pursuant to options granted may not exceed 10% of the issued common shares.

During the year ended March 31, 2016 4,385,500 stock options were granted and 2,825,000 options expired 
unexercised. 

12. OTHER INFORMATION

12.1 Contractual Commitments

Atacama has no material contractual commitments other than the water agreements entered into with 
Aguas Chañar, AMX and Exeter (as further described in section 3.2 – Water Exploration Activities).

12.2 Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting 

During the year ended March 31, 2016 there have been no changes in Atacama’s policies and procedures 
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and other processes that comprise its internal control over financial reporting, that have materially affected, 
or are reasonably likely to affect, Atacama’s internal control over financial reporting. 

12.3 Corporate Governance 

Atacama’s Board of Directors follows corporate governance policies to ensure transparency and 
accountability to shareholders. 

The Audit Committee fulfills its role of ensuring the integrity of the reported information through its review of 
the interim and annual audited consolidated financial statements prior to their submission to the Board of 
Directors for approval. 

12.4 Related Party Transactions 

Albrecht Schneider, Atacama’s Executive Chairman and largest shareholder, manages Atacama’s 
exploration activities in Chile and Atacama contracts with companies controlled by Dr. Schneider for various 
administration, geological and water exploration consulting, accounting, other supervisory services and 
office space in Chile.  

As such, transactions with related parties are significant. The transaction value for geological and 
administrative costs provided by companies controlled by Dr. Schneider for the year ended March 31, 2016 
were $477,626 and the balance owing at March 31, 2016 was $169,578. The transaction value for water 
exploration costs provided by Hydro, a company controlled by Dr. Schneider, for the year ended March 31, 
2016 were $49,546 and the balance owing at March 31, 2016 was $11,488. As described in Section 6.1, 
Atacama entered into an agreement with Los Vilos to operate the El Durazno copper mine. Los Vilos is a 
company controlled by Dr. Schneider. The net activity from the agreement, including the lease royalty, for 
the year ended March 31, 2016 was a loss of $15,919 and the balance owing at March 31, 2016 was
$695,120.

The details of all these related party transactions for the year ended March 31, 2016 and balances owing at 
March 31, 2016 are disclosed in note 9 in the Q4 2016 Statements. This note also describes the $362,500 
of unpaid executive management compensation during the year ended March 31, 2016 and the amount 
owing at March 31, 2016 of $1,087,500.

12.5 Subsequent Events 

On May 2, 2016 Atacama closed a non-brokered private placement (the “Private Placement”) of 1,500,000 
common shares from a single investor at an issue price of $0.30 per common share for gross proceeds of 
$450,000. 

Subsequent to March 31, 2016, 300,000 June 15 Warrants were exercised, 94,500 broker warrants were 
exercised and 50,000 options were granted to a consultant of Atacama. 

On June 21, 2016 Atacama and Los Vilos agreed to cancel Atacama’s lease on the El Durazno copper 
mine. (see Section 6.1)  

Subsequent to year end, Gold Fields exercised the option on the Pircas Project and obtained 100% 
ownership. Atacama's 50% owned subsidiary, SCMAH has retained a 2.5% net smelter return royalty from 
any minerals produced from the property. 

12.6 Risk Factors 

Atacama is in the exploration stage and is subject to the risks and challenges similar to other companies in 
a comparable stage. The risk factors set forth in Atacama’s MD&A for the year ended March 31, 2015, 
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Annual Information Form filed October 24, 2014, preliminary short form prospectus dated November 15, 
2013 and short form prospectus dated November 22, 2013, copies of which are filed at SEDAR, could 
materially affect Atacama’s future operating results, the successful development of Atacama’s mineral 
properties, including the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project, and could cause actual events to differ materially 
from those described in forward-looking statements relating to Atacama. 

13. CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains, “forward-looking information” which may include, but is not limited to, statements with 
respect to the future financial and operating performance of Atacama, its subsidiaries and affiliated 
companies, including predictions, projections and forecasts. Forward-looking statements include, but are 
not limited to, statements with respect to the PFS, including the potential for annual gold production in the 
first five years of production of 291,000 oz Au, total gold production of 2.96 million oz Au over a 13 year 
mine life, LOM mine estimated operating cash costs of US$683 /oz Au, preliminary initial capital cost 
estimate of US$398.9 million with sustaining capital of US$187.6 million, references to pre-tax or after-tax 
pay-back periods, references to pre-tax and after-tax net present values, references to internal rate of 
returns, statements related to cash flows, statements regarding potential development opportunities, 
statements regarding the expectation to increase mineral resources, statements regarding expectations for 
receipt of permits and environmental approvals, exploration results (including with respect to water 
resources), the success of exploration activities generally, mine development prospects, and potential 
future gold production, statements with respect to pending payments from the sale of its AMX option 
rights, statements regarding the expectation to increase mineral resources, statements regarding 
expectations for receipt of permits and environmental approvals, exploration results (including with respect 
to water resources), statements regarding potential gold recoveries, the success of exploration activities 
generally, mine development prospects, and potential future gold production. Often, but not always, 
forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as “plans”, “expects”, “is expected”, 
“budget”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “intends”, “anticipates”, or “believes” or variations (including 
negative variations) of such words and phrases, or state that certain actions, events or results “may”, 
“could”, “would”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. 

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, future events, conditions, uncertainties and 
other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of Atacama to be materially 
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking 
statements. Such factors include, among others, the results of due diligence activities, changes in 
economic parameters and assumptions, the interpretation and actual results of current exploration 
activities; changes in project parameters as plans continue to be refined; the results of regulatory and 
permitting processes; future prices of gold; possible variations in grade or recovery rates; failure of 
equipment or processes to operate as anticipated; labour disputes and other risks of the mining industry; 
the results of further economic and technical studies, delays in obtaining governmental approvals or 
financing or in the completion of exploration, as well as those factors disclosed in Atacama's publicly filed 
documents. 

Although Atacama has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual actions, events or 
results to differ materially from those described in forward-looking statements, there may be other factors 
that cause actions, events or results not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no 
assurance that forward-looking statements will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future events 
could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Accordingly, readers should not place 
undue reliance on forward-looking statements. 
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July 28, 2016

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Atacama Pacific Gold Corporation ("Atacama") were prepared by
management in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board. Management acknowledges responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the consolidated
financial statements, including responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates and the choice of accounting
principles and methods that are appropriate to Atacama's circumstances. Atacama's significant accounting policies are
summarized in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Management has established systems of internal control over the financial reporting process, which are designed to provide
reasonable assurance that relevant and reliable financial information is produced.

The Board of Directors is responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements and for ensuring that
management fulfills its financial reporting responsibilities. An Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling this
responsibility. The Audit Committee meets with management to review the internal controls over the financial reporting
process, the consolidated financial statements and the auditors’ report. The Audit Committee also reviews Atacama's
Management’s Discussion and Analysis to ensure that the financial information reported therein is consistent with the
information presented in the consolidated financial statements. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board of
Directors for its consideration in approving the consolidated financial statements for issuance to shareholders.

Management recognizes its responsibility for conducting Atacama's affairs in compliance with established financial
standards, and applicable laws and regulations, and for maintaining proper standards of conduct for its activities.

[Signed] “Carl Hansen” [Signed] “Thomas Pladsen”
President and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Carl B. Hansen Thomas J. Pladsen
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Atacama Pacific Gold Corporation 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Atacama 
Pacific Gold Corporation, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial 
position as at March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015, the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity and cash flows for the years then 
ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements 
based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of Atacama Pacific Gold as at March 31, 
2016 and March 31, 2015, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 

Emphasis of matter 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated 
financial statements, which describes that Atacama Pacific Gold Corporation has 
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a basis applicable for a going 
concern. Atacama Pacific Gold Corporation has a working capital deficiency, has 
incurred recurring operating losses and negative cash flows from operations, and its 
continuation as a going concern is dependent on its ability to successfully fund its 
operations through operations or additional financing. These conditions along with 
other matters as set forth in Note 1 indicate the existence of material uncertainties 
that may cast significant doubt about Atacama Pacific Gold Corporation’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 
July 28, 2016 
Toronto, Canada 
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ATACAMA PACIFIC GOLD CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Expressed in Canadian Dollars
As at March 31, 2016 2015

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents (note 13) $ 906,387 $ 64,594
Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 148,265 107,598

1,054,652 172,192

Non-current assets
Value-added-tax receivable (note 4) 9,271,126 9,309,466
Due from related parties (note 10) 695,120 -
Exploration and evaluation assets (note 5) 88,871,626 85,995,899
Equipment 3,570 7,864

98,841,442 95,313,229

$ 99,896,094 $ 95,485,421

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 861,108 $ 714,803
Due to related parties (note 10) 1,268,566 920,856

2,129,674 1,635,659

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities (note 7) 5,553,072 -

7,682,746 1,635,659

EQUITY

Share capital (note 6(a)) 85,389,694 82,887,668
Accumulated deficit (11,687,422) (6,691,794)
Other components of equity 18,511,076 17,653,888

92,213,348 93,849,762

$ 99,896,094 $ 95,485,421

Nature of Operations and Going Concern (note 1)
Subsequent Events (notes 5, 8 & 14)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

On behalf of the Board:
(Signed) “Carl Hansen” (Signed) “Paul Champagne”

Director Director
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ATACAMA PACIFIC GOLD CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Expressed in Canadian Dollars

2016 2015

Expenses
Salaries, benefits and Director fees $ 388,950 $ 759,945
Legal and audit 117,196 121,858
Office and administrative 70,270 141,566
Consulting fees 49,727 73,002
Regulatory and shareholder information 40,364 58,007
Travel 26,944 19,726
General exploration expenditures 2,619 3,015
Stock-based compensation (note 6(c)) 642,751 -
Amortization 4,294 5,860

1,343,115 1,182,979

Other income (loss)
Foreign exchange 1,916,286 10,413,317
Interest income 192 5,743
Los Vilos Agreement (note 8) (15,919) -
Gain on settlement of water exploration agreements (note 5) - 157,500

1,900,559 10,576,560

Income before income taxes 557,444 9,393,581

Deferred tax expense (note 7) 5,553,072 -

Income (loss) for the year (4,995,628) 9,393,581

Other comprehensive loss
Foreign exchange translation differences (27,316) (126,799)

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year $ (5,022,944) $ 9,266,782

Income (loss) per share (note 9):
Basic and diluted $ (0.08) $ 0.17

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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ATACAMA PACIFIC GOLD CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Expressed in Canadian Dollars
For the years ended March 31, 2016 2015

Cash provided by (used in)

Operations
Income (loss) for the year $ (4,995,628) $ 9,393,581
Items not involving cash:

Stock-based compensation 642,751 -
Amortization 4,294 5,860
Gain on settlement of water exploration agreements - (157,500)
Value-added-tax receivable (419,157) (681,801)
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (1,435,953) (9,657,895)
Deferred tax expense 5,553,072 -
Change in non-cash working capital:

Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses (40,667) 574,080
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 146,305 (130,791)
Due to/from related parties (347,410) 475,407

(892,393) (179,059)

Investing
Exploration and evaluation costs (862,899) (2,998,698)
Option payments and acquisition costs - (362,916)

(862,899) (3,361,614)

Financing
Issuance of common shares 1,778,000 715,750
Exercise of warrants 846,875 -
Cash share issue costs (27,790) (8,647)

2,597,085 707,103

Change in cash and cash equivalents 841,793 (2,833,570)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 64,594 2,898,164

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 906,387 $ 64,594

Supplementary Cash Flow Information (note 13)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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ATACAMA PACIFIC GOLD CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Expressed in Canadian Dollars
For the years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN

Atacama Pacific Gold Corporation (“Atacama”) is an exploration stage entity engaged in the acquisition, exploration and
development of gold properties in Chile. Atacama was incorporated under the Canada Business Corporation Act on
June 12, 2008. These consolidated financial statements include the results of Atacama's 100% owned subsidiary,
Minera Atacama Pacific Gold Chile Limitada (“Atacama Chile”), a company incorporated in Chile. Atacama's registered
office is located at Suite 1900, 25 Adelaide Street East, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5C 3A1.

These audited consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by Atacama's Board of Directors on July 28,
2016.

The business of exploration, development and mining for minerals involves a high degree of risk. Atacama is an
exploration company and is subject to risks and challenges similar to companies in a comparable stage. These risks
include, but are not limited to, the challenges of securing adequate capital in view of exploration, development and
operational risks inherent in the mining industry; changes in government policies and regulations; the ability to obtain the
necessary environmental permitting; challenges in future profitable production or, alternatively, Atacama's ability to
dispose of its mineral properties on an advantageous basis; as well as global economic and gold price volatility; all of
which are uncertain. There is no assurance that Atacama's funding initiatives will continue to be successful.

Atacama had a working capital deficit of $1,075,022 and accumulated deficit of $11,687,422 as at March 31, 2016
($1,463,467 and $6,691,794, respectively, as at March 31, 2015). In addition, as an exploration stage entity, the
Company has not achieved positive cash flows from operations. Further financing beyond the level of available
resources will be required to finance planned expenditures, develop the properties and continue operations. While there
is no assurance these funds can be raised, Atacama believes such financing will be available as required. Certain of
Atacama's discretionary exploration activities have scope for flexibility in terms of the amount and timing of exploration
expenditure, and future expenditures may be adjusted accordingly.

These audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis which contemplates that Atacama will
continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business. The certainty of funding future expenditures and availability of sources of additional
financing in the future cannot be assured at this time and accordingly, these uncertainties may cast significant doubt
about Atacama’s ability to continue as a going concern. The audited consolidated financial statements do not include
adjustments, which adjustments may be material, to the carrying values and classifications of recorded assets and
liabilities and related revenues and expenses that might be necessary should Atacama be unable to continue as a going
concern.

The underlying value of the mineral properties is dependent upon the existence and economic recovery of mineral
reserves and is subject to, but not limited to, the risks and challenges identified above. Changes in future conditions
could require material writedowns of the carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ('IFRIC").

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below are in accordance with IFRS and have been applied consistently to all years
presented in these consolidated financial statements:

(a) Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the accounts of Atacama and the assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses of its wholly-owned and controlled subsidiary, Atacama Chile, after the elimination of all material
intercompany balances and transactions.
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ATACAMA PACIFIC GOLD CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Expressed in Canadian Dollars
For the years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a) Basis of Consolidation (continued)

Subsidiary

A subsidiary is an entity over which Atacama has the power to govern the financial and operating policies.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group until the date on which
control ceases.

The accounts of Atacama Chile, Atacama's only subsidiary, are prepared for the same reporting period as the
parent entity, using consistent accounting policies. Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated.

(b) Functional and Presentation Currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is Atacama’s functional currency.
The functional currency of Atacama’s foreign subsidiary in Chile is the United States dollar. The functional currency
of each of Atacama’s consolidated entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in
which that entity operates.

Translation of transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the
statement of comprehensive income within other income (loss).

The results and financial position of Atacama's subsidiary that has a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that financial period end;

- income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive loss are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions);

- equity transactions are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and

- all resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of functional to presentation currency, and of
borrowings, are recognized directly in other comprehensive income within the foreign currency translation reserve.

(c) Financial Instruments

(i) Non-derivative financial assets

Atacama initially recognizes loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other
financial assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognized initially on the
trade date at which the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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ATACAMA PACIFIC GOLD CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Expressed in Canadian Dollars
For the years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Financial Instruments (continued)

(i) Non-derivative financial assets (continued)

Atacama derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in
transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the group is recognized as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position
when, and only when, the group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net
basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Atacama has the following non-derivative financial assets:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise accounts receivable and prepaid expenses, and value-added-tax receivable.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with original maturities of 90 days or less.

At March 31, 2016, Atacama had no financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value.

(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities

Atacama initially recognizes debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are
originated. All other financial liabilities are recognized initially on the trade date at which Atacama becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Atacama derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

Non-derivative financial liabilities comprise accounts payable and accrued liabilities and due to related party.

Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method.

(iii) Derivative financial liabilities

Derivative instruments, including embedded derivatives, are recorded at their fair value on the date the
derivative contract is entered into.  They are subsequently remeasured at their fair value at each statement of
financial position date, and the changes in the fair value are recognized in profit or loss.  Fair values for
derivative instruments are determined using valuation techniques, using assumptions based on market
conditions existing at the statement of financial position date.

(iv) Share capital

Common shares

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares
and share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
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ATACAMA PACIFIC GOLD CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Expressed in Canadian Dollars
For the years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Exploration and Evaluation Assets

Exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of acquiring claims, are capitalized as exploration and
evaluation assets on an area of interest basis pending determination of the technical feasibility and the commercial
viability of the project. Capitalised costs include costs directly related to exploration and evaluation activities in the
area of interest. General and administrative costs are only allocated to the asset to the extent that those costs can
be directly related to operational activities in the relevant area of interest. When a claim is relinquished or a project
is abandoned, the related costs are recognized in profit or loss immediately.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying
amount exceeds the recoverable amount (note 5).

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an area of interest
are demonstrable, exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are first tested for
impairment and then reclassified to mining property and development assets within property, plant and equipment.

(e) Equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

Items of equipment are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses (note 3(f)). Cost
includes expenditure that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

(ii) Subsequent costs

Atacama recognizes the cost of replacing a part of an item in the carrying amount of an item of equipment,
when that cost is incurred, if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the item will flow to
Atacama and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

(iii) Amortization

The carrying amounts of equipment (including initial and subsequent capital expenditure) are amortized to their
estimated residual value over the estimated useful lives of the specific assets concerned or the estimated life to
the associated mine, if shorter. Amortization is calculated using a straight line method over the estimated useful
lives of each significant component.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

- office equipment 5-12 years

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted if
appropriate.

(iv) Disposal

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal
with the carrying amount of equipment and are recognized net within “other income” in profit or loss.

(f) Impairment

(i) Financial assets

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it
is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more
events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.
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ATACAMA PACIFIC GOLD CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Expressed in Canadian Dollars
For the years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f) Impairment (continued)

(i) Financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial
assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognized. For financial assets measured at amortized cost, the reversal is recognized in
profit or loss.

(ii) Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of Atacama's non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows
of other assets or groups of assets (the cash-generating unit).

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro-rata
basis.

In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date
for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only
to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.
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ATACAMA PACIFIC GOLD CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Expressed in Canadian Dollars
For the years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Share-Based Payment Transactions

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees (or Directors or consultants) is
recognized as an employee expense or capitalized to exploration and evaluation assets for grants to individuals
working directly on mineral properties, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees
unconditionally become entitled to the awards. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
number of awards for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that
the amount ultimately recognized as an expense is based on the number of awards that do meet the related service
and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting
conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is
no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes. Fair values of share-based payments (including
stock options and warrants) are determined based on estimated fair values at the time of grant using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model using the management assumptions disclosed in these consolidated financial
statements.

Share-based payment arrangements in which Atacama receives goods or services as consideration for its own
equity instruments are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions.

(h) Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, Atacama has a present legal or constructive obligation that
can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the
discount is recognized as finance cost.

(i) Income Tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or
loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the
following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities,
but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be
realized simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the
related tax benefit will be realized.
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ATACAMA PACIFIC GOLD CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Expressed in Canadian Dollars
For the years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Income Per Share

Atacama presents basic and diluted income per share data for its common shares. Basic income per share is
calculated by dividing the income attributable to common shareholders of Atacama by the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held. Diluted income per share is
determined by adjusting the income attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares,
which comprise outstanding warrants and stock options.

(k) Use of Estimates and Judgements

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
at the date of the consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on management's experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. However, actual outcomes can differ from those estimates.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty considered by management in preparing
the consolidated financial statements is described below:

(i) Capitalization of exploration and evaluation expenditures:

The application of Atacama’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures requires judgement
in determining whether future economic benefits are likely, which may be based on assumptions about future
events or circumstances. Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information becomes available.
If, after the expenditures are capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of
expenditures are unlikely, the amount capitalized is written off in profit or loss in the period when the new
information becomes available.

(ii) Contingencies

By their nature, contingencies will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. The
assessment of contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant judgement and estimates of the
outcome of future events.

(iii) Fair value of stock based compensation and warrants:

In determining the fair value of stock based compensation and warrants, option pricing models are used that
require management to make estimates and assumptions regarding the expected life and market price of its
equity instruments, volatility and risk free interest rates.

(l) Changes in Accounting Policies

Atacama has not adopted any material new or revised standards during the year ended March 31, 2016.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

The following pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRIC and are mandatory for accounting periods
after March 31, 2016 or later periods. They have not yet been adopted and are being evaluated to determine the
impact on Atacama:

(i) IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, is an amendment to clarify certain aspects focused on the areas of
clarification of concept of materiality and aggregation of items in the financial statements, the use and
presentation of subtotals in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss, and providing of additional flexibility
in the structure and disclosures of the financial statements to enhance understandability. The amendment is
applicable to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 

(ii) IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, is an amendment to clarify acceptable methods of depreciation and
amortization whereby a depreciation method that is based on revenue that is generated by an activity that
includes the use of an asset is not appropriate. The amendment is applicable to annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016. 

(iii) IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, is an amendment that clarifies that an entity need not
apply the equity method to its investment in an associate or joint venture the parent is the ultimate parent of the
entity in which subsidiaries are consolidated or are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

(iv) IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, clarifies the definition for continuing involvement in a transferred
financial asset. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

(v) IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, clarifies the conditions for a parent to present consolidated
financial statements and for investment entities, and treatment for loss of control of a subsidiary that does not
contain a business. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

(vi) IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, is an amendment to clarify accounting for acquisition of interest in a joint
operation. The amendment is applicable to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

(vii) IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, is an amendment to clarify and improve information provided to users of
financial statements about an entity’s financing activities. The amendment is applicable for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

(viii) IAS 12, Income Taxes, is an amendment to clarify criteria used to assess whether future taxable profits can be
utilized against deductible temporary differences. The amendment is applicable to annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2017.

(ix) IFRS 9, Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement, is a new financial instruments standard that
replaces IAS 39 and IFRIC 9 for classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities. IFRS
9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Earlier application is permitted.
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4. VALUE-ADDED-TAX (“VAT”) RECEIVABLE

VAT receivable from the government of Chile is in respect of VAT paid on expenditure incurred in Chile which is
recoverable in the future. The actual timing of receipt is uncertain as VAT is typically refundable only upon commercial
operations; VAT receivable has therefore been classified as a non-current asset.

Balance - March 31, 2014 $ 8,562,213

Additions 681,801
Effect of foreign exchange translation 65,452

Balance - March 31, 2015 9,309,466

Additions 476,568
VAT recovered from Los Vilos operations (note 8) (57,411)
Effect of foreign exchange translation (457,497)

Balance - March 31, 2016 $ 9,271,126

5. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

The following is a summary of the capitalized costs of Atacama's exploration and evaluation assets as at March 31,
2016 and March 31, 2015:

Option Exploration Option Exploration

payments and and Balance payments and and Balance

acquisition evaluation March 31, acquisition evaluation March 31,

Property costs costs 2015 costs costs 2016

Cerro Maricunga Gold
Project $ 5,728,507 $ 78,005,129 $ 83,733,636 $ 5,773,483 $ 80,771,168 $ 86,544,651

Anocarire Project 1,177,867 100,480 1,278,347 1,206,166 104,856 1,311,022
Piedra Parada Project 633,008 78,386 711,394 648,217 87,747 735,964
Toro Prospect 1,268 143,121 144,389 1,299 147,481 148,780
Pircas Project 126,823 1,310 128,133 129,870 1,339 131,209

$ 7,667,473 $ 78,328,426 $ 85,995,899 $ 7,759,035 $ 81,112,591 $ 88,871,626

Cerro Piedra

Maricunga Anocarire Parada Toro Pircas

Gold Project(1) Project Project Project(b) Project(c) Total

Balance, March 31, 2014 $ 70,379,778 $ 1,114,986 $ 620,022 $ 125,785 $ 111,685 $ 72,352,256

Option payments and acquisition costs 765,416 - - - - 765,416
Exploration and evaluation costs(1) 3,367,127 - - 453 - 3,367,580
Effect of foreign exchange translation 9,221,315 163,361 91,372 18,151 16,448 9,510,647

Balance, March 31, 2015 83,733,636 1,278,347 711,394 144,389 128,133 85,995,899

Option payments and acquisition costs - - - - - -
Exploration and evaluation costs(1) 999,013 2,117 7,478 985 - 1,009,593
Effect of foreign exchange translation 1,812,002 30,558 17,092 3,406 3,076 1,866,134

Balance, March 31, 2016 $ 86,544,651 $ 1,311,022 $ 735,964 $ 148,780 $ 131,209 $ 88,871,626

(1) Exploration and evaluations costs for the years ended March 31, 2016 includes $146,694 (2015 - $-) of capitalized stock based
compensation allocated to the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project.
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5. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued)

Atacama's exploration and evaluation assets are comprised of option payments and acquisition costs to acquire mineral
properties and capitalized exploration and evaluation costs. All of Atacama’s mineral properties are located in northern
Chile. Atacama's primary focus is the Cerro Maricunga Gold Project.

(a) Cerro Maricunga Gold Project

The Cerro Maricunga Gold Project concessions comprises generally contiguous or superposed exploration and
mining claims, either acquired or staked by Atacama.

In July 2013, Atacama entered into an agreement for the purchase of 2.5 million cubic metres (“m3”) of water
annually, representing a flow rate of 80 litres per second, from Aguas Chanar S.A. (“Aguas Chanar”), a Chilean
water utility. Under the agreement, Aguas Chanar will supply 2.5 million m3 of water per year to Atacama Pacific
over a period of 13 years at a rate of US$0.75/m3 commencing upon the start of production at the Cerro Maricunga
Gold Project. The supply agreement is renewable for successive 5-year periods at the end of the 13 year term.
Under the original agreement, Atacama agreed to make pre-production annual water payments to Aguas Chanar of
US$567,648. Under the amended agreement dated March 21, 2016, in exchange for an immediate payment of
US$280,557, Aguas Chanar agreed to: (i) reduce these pre-production payments to US$113,530 per year for 2016
to 2019; and (ii) accept a deferred pre-production payment of US$359,510 per year for 2016 to 2019. The deferred
pre-production payment is due on the start of production in 2020 in three biannual instalments.

In 2012, Atacama entered into an option agreement (the "AMX Option") with AMX de Chile S.A. and related
subsidiary companies ("AMX") to explore for and acquire water use rights on a series of contiguous water
exploration concessions located approximately 95 kilometres north of Atacamaís Cerro Maricunga Gold Project.
Albrecht Schneider, Atacama’s Executive Chairman, owns a non-nontrolling stake in AMX through a company
controlled by him.

On November 19, 2013, Atacama entered into an agreement to sell the AMX Option to a Chilean subsidiary of Gold
Fields Ltd. ("Gold Fields"). Under the terms of the agreement, Gold Fields paid Atacama a total of US$1.2 million
by December 31, 2014. If Gold Fields receives approval from the Chilean water authority, Dirección General de
Aguas (“DGA”), for all or a portion of the 42 litres per second of water discovered within the concessions to date,
Atacama will receive a payment of US$62,000 per litre per second approved.

In 2012, Atacama entered into an option agreement, as amended on February 25, 2014, with Hydro Exploraciones
SpA (“Hydro”) to explore for and acquire water use rights on a series of water exploration concessions located
approximately 70 kilometres east of Atacamaís Cerro Maricunga Gold Project. Albrecht Schneider, Atacama’s
Executive Chairman, owns a controlling interest in Hydro. Under the terms of the option agreement with Hydro, on
the granting of the DGA exploration permits (which occurred in January 2014) a payment was owed to Hydro equal
to the number of hectares approved in the DGA exploration permit (approximately 10,012 hectares) times 23,851
Chilean Unidad de foment (approximately US$241,990). Further payments were due after the drilling of production
test wells and application for and granting of water extraction rights by the DGA.

On May 8, 2013 Atacama entered in a water exploration joint venture agreement with a subsidiary of Exeter
Resources Inc. (“Exeter”) under which Exeter and Atacama would jointly explore and develop the Hydro water
exploration concessions. This agreement was amended by a February 26, 2014 agreement among Exeter, Hydro
and Atacama under which payments for the water extraction rights covered by the water exploration joint venture
were capped at US$1 million and Atacama’s interest in the water exploration joint venture was reduced to 10%.

On May 15, 2014, Atacama entered into an agreement with Hydro under which Atacama issued 350,000 common
shares to settle current liabilities of $402,500 under the option agreement and the water exploration joint venture
agreement as noted above. The fair value of the common shares issued was $245,000, calculated based on the
closing common share price on May 15, 2014 ($0.70), resulting in a gain on settlement of water exploration
agreement of $157,500. Atacama continues to be responsible for 10% of the expenditures under the water
exploration joint venture agreement with Exeter and will retain a 10% interest in any water extraction rights granted
by the DGA.
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5. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued)

(b) Toro Project

The Toro claims are subject to a 0.6% net smelter return royalty of any minerals produced from the property payable
to a private Chilean party.

(c) Pircas Prospect

Atacama Chile owns 50% of a private Chilean company, Sociedad Contractual Minera Aguas Heladas (“SCMAH”).
The other 50% of SCMAH is owned by a private Chilean party. The primary asset of SCMAH were the Pircas
claims. SCMAH has entered into an agreement with Gold Fields under which Gold Fields earned a 100% interest in
the Pircas Project by spending US$6,799,000 on the property by 2018 and SCMAH retained a 2.5% net smelter
return royalty from any minerals produced from the property. Subsequent to year end, Gold Fields exercised the
option and acquired 100% ownership.

6. SHARE CAPITAL AND OTHER COMPONENTS OF EQUITY

(a) Share Capital

Authorized Capital - Unlimited common shares with no par value.

Issued
Number of
common Share
shares capital

Balance - March 31, 2014 54,937,410 $ 82,074,758

Shares issued to Hydro for settlement of water exploration agreements (note 5(a)) 350,000 245,000
Private placement:

Units issued for cash 1,022,500 715,750
Share issue costs - (8,647)
Less proceeds allocated to October 2014 Warrants (note 6(b)) - (139,193)

Balance - March 31, 2015 56,309,910 82,887,668

Private placement:
Units issued for cash 8,890,000 1,778,000
Share issue costs - (27,790)
Less proceeds allocated to June 2015 Broker Warrants (note 6(b)) - (4,726)
Less proceeds allocated to June 2015 Warrants (note 6(b)) - (379,453)
Exercise of warrants 3,387,500 846,875
Fair value of warrants exercised - 289,120

Balance -  March 31, 2016 68,587,410 $ 85,389,694

On October 22, 2014, Atacama completed a private placement financing of 1,022,500 units at a price of $0.70 per
unit (each an "October 2014 Unit") for gross proceeds of $715,750.

Each October 2014 Unit was composed of one common share and one-half of one common share purchase
warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for one additional common share at an exercise price of $1.00
prior to October 22, 2017 ("October 2014 Warrants"). Share issue costs incurred were $8,647. The net proceeds of
$707,103 were allocated $567,910 as to the common shares and $139,193 to the warrants.
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6. SHARE CAPITAL AND OTHER COMPONENTS OF EQUITY (continued)

(a) Share Capital (continued)

In June 2015, Atacama completed a non-brokered private placement financing of units (the “June 2015 Units”) at
an issue price of $0.20 per June 2015 Unit. Atacama issued 8,890,000 June 2015 Units for gross cash proceeds of
$1,778,000. Each June 2015 Unit is comprised of one common share and one-half common share purchase
warrant (a “June 2015 Warrant”). Each full June 2015 Warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for one additional
common share at an exercise price of $0.25 at any time prior to 36 months from the date of issuance.

In connection with the June 2015 financing, Atacama paid a finder’s fee of $18,900 and 94,500 broker warrants to
agents. Each broker warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for one common share at an exercise price of $0.25 at
any time prior to 12 months from the date of issuance (a "June 2015 Broker Warrant").

(b) Warrants
Number of Value of

warrants and warrants and
broker broker

warrants warrants

Balance - March 31, 2014 4,240,000 $ 1,137,256

Issuance of October 2014 Warrants 511,250 139,193
Expiry of November 2013 Broker Warrants (240,000) (81,600)

Balance - March 31, 2015 4,511,250 1,194,849

Issuance of June 2015 Broker Warrants 94,500 4,726
Issuance of June 2015 Warrants 4,445,000 379,453
Exercise of June 2015 Warrants (3,387,500) (289,120)

Balance - March 31, 2016 5,663,250 $ 1,289,908

During the years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 the following warrants and broker warrants were issued and
valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model parameters listed below (in each case with no dividends):

Black-Scholes option pricing parameters

Number of Grant date Risk-free Expected life Volatility
warrants Exercise price stock price interest rate (years) factor

2016

June 2015 Broker
Warrants 94,500 $0.25 $0.18 1.02% 1.0 100%

June 2015 Warrants 4,445,000 $0.25 $0.18 1.02% 3.0 100%

2015

October 2014
Warrants 511,250 $1.00 $0.51 1.02% 3.0 100%
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6. SHARE CAPITAL AND OTHER COMPONENTS OF EQUITY (continued)

(b) Warrants (continued)

A summary of Atacama’s warrants and broker warrants outstanding at March 31, 2016 is presented below:

Issue date Warrants Exercise price Expiry date

November 29, 2013 warrants 4,000,000 $1.40 November 29, 2016
October 22, 2014 warrants 511,250 $1.00 October 22, 2017
June 2015 Broker Warrants 94,500 $0.25 June 10, 2016
June 2015 Warrants 1,057,500 $0.25 June 10, 2018

5,663,250 $0.78

(c) Stock Options

Under Atacama's Stock Option Plan (the "Plan"), stock options may be granted to Atacama’s Directors, senior
officers, employees, consultants and consultant companies. The Plan: (i) provides that the number of common
shares reserved for issuance, within a one year period, to any one optionee, shall not exceed 5% of the outstanding
common shares; (ii) provides the maximum number of common shares reserved for issuance pursuant to options
granted may not exceed 10% of the issued common shares; (iii) contains other provisions to ensure the Plan is
compliant with stock exchange regulations.

During the year ended March 31, 2016, 4,385,500 stock options were granted and 2,825,000 stock options expired
unexercised. As at March 31, 2016, Atacama had 6,800,000 stock options issued and outstanding under the Plan.

A summary of the stock option activity for the years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 is as follows:

Weighted
Weighted average

Number of average exercise date
options exercise price fair value

Balance - March 31, 2014 and 2015 5,239,500 $ 3.70 $ -

Granted 4,385,500 0.37 -
Expired (2,825,000) 4.17 -

Balance - March 31, 2016 6,800,000 $ 1.37 $ -

During the years ended March 31, 2016 the following stock options, which vested immediately, were issued and
valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model parameters listed below (in each case with no dividends):

Black-Scholes option pricing parameters

Exercise Grant date Risk-free Expected life Volatility

price stock price Expiry date interest rate (years) factor Fair value

Dec. 4, 2015 1,927,500 $0.20 Dec. 4, 2020 1.62% 5.0 100% $0.10
Mar. 21, 2016 2,458,000 $0.50 Mar. 21, 2021 1.62% 5.0 100% $0.24
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6. SHARE CAPITAL AND OTHER COMPONENTS OF EQUITY (continued)

(c) Stock Options (continued)

A summary of Atacama’s outstanding stock options at March 31, 2016 is presented below:

Options Weighted average
outstanding & remaining life

Issue date exercisable Exercise price (years)

April 14, 2011 50,000 $5.35 0.1
August 29, 2011 652,500 $5.25 0.4
October 13, 2011 100,000 $4.50 0.5
November 24, 2011 30,000 $4.00 0.7
February 3, 2012 40,000 $4.00 0.8
March 1, 2012 25,000 $4.00 0.9
March 27, 2012 412,000 $4.40 1.0
May 2, 2012 5,000 $4.05 1.1
July 12, 2012 20,000 $3.00 1.3
October 3, 2012 85,000 $3.25 1.5
January 31, 2014 995,000 $1.00 2.8
December 4, 2015 1,927,500 $0.20 4.7
March 21, 2016 2,458,000 $0.50 5.0

6,800,000 $1.37 2.7

7. INCOME TAXES

The income tax expense (recovery) has been calculated as follows:

2016 2015

Income before income taxes $ 557,444 $ 9,393,581

Canadian combined federal and provincial income tax rate %26.50 %26.50

Expected income tax expense (recovery) at Canadian statutory rates $ 147,723 $ 2,489,299
Stock option expense 170,329 -
Other items not deductible (taxable) (561,051) (1,487,078)
Change in unrecognized deferred tax asset 1,514,051 (1,034,830)
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdiction 5,528 32,609
Effect of foreign exchange 4,276,492 -

Income tax expense (recovery) $ 5,553,072 $ -

Atacama has recognized deferred tax assets to the extent of its deferred tax liabilities as per the table below:

2016 2015

Exploration and evaluation assets $ (5,736,166) $ (2,301,808)
Losses carried forward 183,094 2,301,808

$ (5,553,072) $ -
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7. INCOME TAXES (continued)

Atacama’s deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following items:

2016 2015

Deductible temporary differences $ 258,534 $ -
Losses carried forward 15,416,035 11,337,336

$ 15,674,569 $ 11,337,336

At March 31, 2016, Atacama had unclaimed non-capital losses in Canada that expire as follows:

Year of Expiry

2030 $ 130,627
2031 2,957,431
2032 3,248,012
2033 3,339,669
2034 2,195,351
2035 2,330,827
2036 1,214,118

$ 15,416,035

At March 31, 2016, Atacama has unclaimed losses in Chile which can be carried forward indefinitely. The Chilean tax
rate at March 31, 2016 for corporations was 24% (2015 - 22.5%).

8. LOS VILOS AGREEMENT

Effective September 1, 2015, Atacama entered into agreements with Minera Los Vilos S.A. (“Los Vilos”) to provide
access to and operate the El Durazno copper mine. The El Durazno operation comprises of a small tonnage
underground mine with an associated 200 to 250 tonne per day milling facility located near Caimanes, Region IV, Chile.
Los Vilos is a company controlled by Atacama’s Executive Chairman, Dr. Albrecht Schneider. The agreements are for a
period of two years and are automatically renewed annually thereafter. Either party of may terminate the agreements
without penalty by providing three months written notice. In the event that Dr. Schneider ceases to be a shareholder of
Atacama, by any circumstance, the agreements can be terminated immediately by either party. The royalty payable to
Los Vilos under the agreement is 97.75% of gross profit from the El Durazno copper mine, plus 15% of the VAT
recovered by Atacama through operating the mine. Atacama is responsible for on-going maintenance expenditures
required for normal operations while Los Vilos maintains responsibility for any capital expenditures that are required to
expand and extend operations beyond the concessions identified in the current arrangement

Atacama will operate the Los Vilos mine, however substantially all of the economic benefits of operating the mine will be
paid through a 97.75% gross margin royalty, plus 15% of the VAT recovered.  Therefore, the results have been
presented in Atacama’s financial statements on a net basis as follows
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8. LOS VILOS AGREEMENT (continued)

The operational results of the Los Vilos arrangement is as follows:

For the years ended March 31, 2016 2015

Revenue $ 1,654,214 $ -
Costs (1,978,995) -

Gross profit (324,781) -
Royalty on profit (97.75%) 317,473 -
Royalty on VAT recovered (15%) (8,611) -

Net operational activity (15,919) -
VAT recovered 57,411 -

Net cash flow position $ 41,492 $ -

Subsequent to year end, Atacama’s subsidiary Atacama Chile was served an environmental notice from the Chilean
environmental authority (Sernageomin) over the operations at Los Vilos. The environmental notice includes immaterial
fines for damages against Atacama Chile and has forced the closure of the operations at Los Vilos. As a result,
Atacama Chile decided to terminate the Los Vilos agreement on June 21, 2016. Los Vilos has acknowledged the
termination of the agreements and that it will bear all the legal costs, fines and other expenses related to the defense
process. However, since the notice was served in the name of Atacama Chile, Los Vilos has requested that Atacama
formally continue the defense of the case against the Sernageomin. On July 25, 2016 the Senageomin accepted
Atacama Chile’s appeal and lifted the closure notice, without issuing any fines or penalties.

9. INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE

Income (loss) per share has been calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during
the years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 as follows:

For the years ended March 31, 2016 2015

Income (loss) for the year $ (4,995,628) $ 9,393,581
Basic and diluted weighted average number of

shares outstanding during the year 63,668,414 55,692,478
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share $ (0.08) $ 0.17

Fully diluted weighted average common shares outstanding for the year ended March 31, 2016 is not reflective of the
outstanding stock options and warrants as their exercise would be anti-dilutive in the loss per share calculation.

10. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) Executive Management Compensation

Executive management received stock options during the year ended March 31, 2016 as follows.

Black-Scholes option pricing parameters

Number of Exercise Grant date Risk-free Expected life Volatility

options price stock price Expiry date interest rate (years) factor Fair value

1,150,000 $0.20 $0.14 Dec. 4, 2020 1.62% 5.0 100% $0.10
1,700,000 $0.50 $0.35 Mar. 21, 2021 1.62% 5.0 100% $0.24
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10. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) Executive Management Compensation (continued)

Executive management's compensation for the years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 consisted of deferred cash
and employment benefits. Executive management’s deferred cash compensation was reduced by one half effective
April 1, 2015. As a result, executive management's compensation comprised of the following:

2016 2015

Cash compensation $ 362,500 $ 725,000
Fair value of stock options 528,078 -
Employment benefits 10,588 9,640

$ 901,166 $ 734,640

(b) Executive Management and Director Transactions

The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to executive management and Directors and
entities over which they have control or significant influence were as follows:

Transaction value Balance outstanding as at

for the years ended Mar. 31, March 31, March 31,

Director Transaction Note 2016 2015 2016 2015

Albrecht Schneider (1)
Geological and administration costs (2) 477,626 1,250,768 169,578 143,173
Water exploration costs (3) 49,546 88,912 11,488 7,683
Water acquisition costs (4) - 105,012 - -
Los Vilos Agreement (5) 15,919 - (695,120) -

Executive management compensation 362,500 725,000 1,087,500 770,000

$ 905,591 $ 2,169,692 $ 573,446 $ 920,856

(1) Albrecht Schneider is Atacama's Executive Chairman, a Director and a 26.0% shareholder of Atacama's
common shares.

(2) Effective September 1, 2010, Atacama entered into a professional and administrative services agreement with
SBX Asesorias E Inversiones Limitada, a company controlled by Dr. Schneider. The agreement is renewed
annually and provides administration, geological, accounting, other supervisory services and office space in
Chile. For the year ended March 31, 2016, the fees paid under the terms of the agreement were $235,908 for
geological support and $241,718 for office administration (March 31, 2015 - $794,342 for geological support and
$456,426 for office administration). At March 31, 2016, the balance owed was $169,578 (March 31, 2015 -
$143,173).

(3) Effective November 1, 2010, Atacama entered into a water exploration agreement with Hydro, a company
controlled by Dr. Schneider. For the year ended March 31, 2016, the fees paid under the terms of the
agreement were $49,546 for water exploration (March 31, 2015 - $88,912). At March 31, 2016, the balance
owed was $11,488 (March 31, 2015 - $7,683).

(4) As described in note 5(a), Atacama entered into an option agreement dated July 26, 2012, as amended on
February 25, 2014 and May 15, 2014, with Hydro to explore for and acquire water use rights on a series of
water exploration concessions located approximately 70 kilometres east of Atacama’s Cerro Maricunga Gold
Project. On May 15, 2014, Atacama settled the obligations under the option agreement and the water
exploration joint venture agreement, as noted in note 5(a), through the issuance of 350,000 common shares at a
price of $1.15 per share for a value of $402,500. Accordingly, the acquisition costs incurred under the terms of
the agreement of $297,488 as of March 31, 2014 were reversed during the year ended March 31, 2015. At
March 31, 2016, the balance owed was $nil (March 31, 2015 - $nil).
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10. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) Executive Management and Director Transactions (continued)

(5) As described in note 7, Atacama entered into an agreement with Los Vilos to operate the El Durazno copper
mine. Los Vilos is a company controlled by Dr. Schneider. The net activity from the agreement, including the
lease royalty, for the year ended March 31, 2016 was a loss of $15,919 (March 31, 2015 - $nil). During August
and September 2015, during the transition of operations at the El Durazno copper mine from Los Vilos to
Atacama, Atacama advanced funds to Los Vilos to fund the operations of the mine under the terms of the
agreement. At March 31, 2016, $695,120 was receivable from Los Vilos (March 31, 2015 - $nil).

These transactions have been recorded at the exchange amount, which is the consideration paid as established
and agreed to by the related parties.

11. MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL RISK

Atacama’s capital management objective is to maximize investment returns to its shareholders within the context of
relevant opportunities and risks associated with Atacama’s Chilean mineral properties. Achieving this objective requires
management to consider the underlying nature of exploration and development activities, availability of capital, the cost
of various capital alternatives and other factors.

Establishing and adjusting capital requirements is a continuous management process. Exploration involves a high
degree of “discovery” risk and substantial uncertainties about Atacama's ultimate ability to achieve positive cash flow
from operations. Consequently, management primarily funds Atacama’s exploration activities and administrative costs
by issuing share capital rather than using other capital sources that require fixed repayments of principal or interest.
Atacama options certain exploration prospects to third parties as an additional means of funding exploration and to
provide Atacama with access to a broader number of exploration prospects. Atacama will continue to assess new
properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it feels there is sufficient geologic or economic
potential and if it has adequate financial resources to do so.

Development activities may begin once a property’s mineral reserves are estimated, economic feasibility is established,
and Atacama makes a positive production decision. At this point, management may consider other sources of financing
such as senior debt or convertible debentures as a means to reduce equity dilution.

Atacama’s capital under management at March 31, 2016 includes share capital of $85,389,694 (March 31, 2015 -
$82,887,668). There were no changes in the capital components of equity since its previous year end of March 31,
2015.

There were no changes in Atacama's approach to capital management during the year ended March 31, 2016 and
Atacama is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

12. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK

Atacama’s financial instruments are exposed to financial risks as summarized below:

(a) Financial Instruments

At March 31, 2016, Atacama’s financial instruments consisted of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable
and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. With respect to all of these financial instruments Atacama estimates
that the fair value of these financial instruments approximates the carrying values at March 31, 2016, due to their
short term to maturity.
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12. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

(b) Credit Risk

Atacama's credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash and cash equivalents and VAT receivable. This risk is
minimized with respect to cash and cash equivalents as it has been placed with large Canadian chartered and
Chilean banks. This risk is also minimized for VAT receivable, as it is recoverable from the government of Chile.
Concentration of credit risk exists as a significant amount is held at three financial institutions and one government
body; however, management believes the risk of loss to be remote.

(c) Liquidity Risk

Atacama's approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when
due. As at March 31, 2016, Atacama had a cash and cash equivalents balance of $906,387 (March 31, 2015 -
$64,594) to settle current liabilities of $2,129,674 (March 31, 2015 - $1,635,659). All of Atacama's financial liabilities
have contractual maturities of 30 days or less and are subject to normal trade terms.

(d) Market Risk

(i) Interest Rate Risk

Atacama holds its cash and cash equivalents in bank accounts that earn variable interest rates. Due to the
short-term nature of these financial instruments, fluctuations in market rates do not have a significant impact on
estimated fair values as of March 31, 2016. Future cash flows from interest income on cash and cash
equivalents may be affected by interest rate fluctuations. Atacama manages interest rate risk by maintaining an
investment policy for short-term investments. This policy focuses primarily on preservation of capital and
liquidity. Atacama monitors the investments it makes and is satisfied with the credit rating of its banks.

(ii) Foreign Currency Risk

Atacama's functional currency is the Canadian dollar. The functional currency of Atacama’s foreign subsidiary is
the United States dollar. Atacama is affected by currency transaction risk and currency translation risk.
Consequently, fluctuations of the United States dollar in relation to other currencies impact the fair value of
financial assets and liability and operating results.

Financial assets and liabilities subject to currency translation risk primarily include United States dollar
denominated cash and cash equivalents, intercompany loan to Atacama Chile (US$70,065,855) and accounts
payable and accrued liabilities denominated in Chilean pesos. Atacama maintains United States dollar bank
accounts in Canada and Chile.

Foreign exchange losses and gains are primarily a result of the fluctuations in the United States dollar against
the Canadian dollar. Any strengthening (or weakening) of the United States dollar against the Canadian dollar
results in foreign exchange gains (or losses) on Atacama’s United States dollar denominated cash and cash
equivalent balances and US dollar intercompany loans with its subsidiary. During the nine months ended March
31, 2016, there were foreign exchange gains of $1,916,286 (March 31, 2015 - $10,413,317) primarily related to
these US dollar intercompany loans to Atacama's subsidiary which do not eliminate on consolidation.

(iii) Sensitivity Analysis

For the year ended March 31, 2016, management estimates that if the US$ had strengthened or weakened by
10% against the Canadian dollar and Chilean pesos, assuming all other variables remained constant, loss for
the period would have increased or decreased by approximately $8,100,000.

(iv) Commodity Price Risk

Atacama is exposed to price risk with respect to the commodity price of gold. Future declines in this commodity
price may impact the valuation of long-lived assets, in particular the exploration and evaluation assets.
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13. SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Supplementary information with respect to the consolidated statements of cash flows is as follows:

For the years ended March 31, 2016 2015

Interest received $ 192 $ 5,743

Non-cash investing and financing activities include the following:

For the years ended March 31, 2016 2014

Common shares issued to Hydro for water exploration concessions $ - $ 402,500

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following:

As at March 31, 2016 2015

Cash $ 636,182 $ 44,570
Cash equivalents 270,205 20,024

$ 906,387 $ 64,594

14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(a) On May 2, 2016, Atacama completed a non-brokered private placement of 1,500,000 common shares at an issue
price of $0.30 per share for gross cash proceeds of $450,000.

(b) Subsequent to March 31, 2016, 300,000 June 15 Warrants were exercised, 94,500 broker warrants were exercised
and 50,000 options were granted to a consultant of Atacama.

(c) On June 21, 2016, Atacama and Los Vilos agreed to cancel Atacama’s lease on the El Durazno copper mine.

(d) Subsequent to year end, Gold Fields exercised the option on the Pircas Prospect and obtained 100% ownership.
Atacama's 50% owned subsidiary, SCMAH has retained a 2.5% net smelter return royalty from any minerals
produced from the property.

15. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year's consolidated financial statement
presentation.
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